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Board and, if any of the charges are sustained, the Respondent be disciplined 

and assessed the costs of this proceeding. 

Respectfully submitted, 

~d:+~
S~-Mullins 
Deputy Chief Disciplinary Counsel 
20 Rrst Plaza NW, Suite 710 
Albuquerque, NM 87102 
(505) 842-5781 

Done thi~ay of lJ."y;/. 2010 
In Albuquerque, New~o 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEW MEXICO 

JUDITH SlZEMORE, 

Plaintiff, 

v. No. CV 04-272 JPIDJS 

STATE OF NEW MEXICO, et aL, 

Defendants. 

ORDER ADOPTING MAGISTRATE JUDGE'S FINDINGS, ANALYSIS AND
 
RECOMMENDED DISPOSITION, AND AWARDING ATTORNEY FEES TO STATE
 

DEFENDANTS AGAINST ATTORNEY DENNIS W. MONTOYA
 

On November 17,2006, acting on this Court's Order of Reference, ChiefMagistrate 

Judge Lorenzo F. Garcia entered his Findings, Analysis and Recommended Disposition' 

(hereafter "Recommended Disposition" or uRD") on two pending motions for attorney fees 

(Doc. No. 110).1 Judge Garcia recommends that no attorney fees be assessed against Plaintiff 

Judith Sizemore. R.D. at 19. Judge Garcia further recommends that only a small portion ofthe 

State Defendants' attorney fees be assessed against Dennis W. Montoya, fonner counsel for 

Plaintiff, under 28 U.S.C. § 1921. R.D. at 20-21. On December 4, 2006 the State Defendants 

filed their Objections (Doc. No. 172), in which they object to the recommendation that only 

those fees incurred by the State Defendants subsequent to April 18) 2005 should be awarded 

against Mr. Montoya. On the same day Mr. Montoya filed his Objections (Doc. No. 173), in 

which he challenges the recommendation that any fees be assessed against him. On January 4, 

2007 Mr. Montoya also filed a Response to the State Defendants' Objections (Doc. No. 179). 

I On February 25,2005 Rei Defendants filed their Motion for Attorney's Fees (Doc. No. 95), and on July 
18,2005 State Defendants filed their Motion for Award of Attorney Fees and Costs (Doc. No. 136). 

EXHIBIT 

B 
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Neither the RCI Defendants nor the State Defendants object to the Magistrate Judge's
 

Recommended Disposition tnat no fees be assessed against Plaintiff.
 

The C~urt has carefully considered the Magistrate Judge's Recommended Disposition, 

tne parties' objections, and the underlying pleadings. The Court is intimately familiar with the 

underlying facts of the progress of this case. but lacked infonnation about Plaintiff Sizemore's 

ability to pay the Defendants' requested attorney fees. Magistrate Judge Garcia held an 

evidentiary hearing on August 29, 2006 at which Plaintiff Sizemore testified and was subjectto 

cross-examina.tion. Mr. Montoya did not appear at the hearing, although he was represented by 

counsel. 

A. State Defendants' Objections. 

The State Defendants object to Judge Garcia's recommendation that only fees incurred 

by the State Defendants subsequent to April 18,2005 should be assessed against Mr. Montoya 

und~r 28 U.S:C. § 1927. On that date, this Court entered summary judgment in favor of the State 

Defendants and dismissed all Plaintiffs claims against them. Doc. Nos. 115, 116. Defendants 

argue that the Magistrate Judge mistaken Iy relied on a standard of Mr. Montoya's subjective bad 

faith rather than objective bad faith, and that under the proper objective standard the Court 

should award their fees from the outset of the litigation to its conclusion. 

B. Mr. Montoya's Objections. 

Mr. Montoya objects to the award of any sanctions against him. He argues that the 

Magistrate Judge incorrectly perceived that the question to be resolved was one of amount rather 

than propriety of sanctions, and that it is thus unclear from the Recommended Disposition what, 

if any, grounds exist for the award of$6,44850 in sanctions against him. 

2 
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C. Discussion. 

This Court previously detennined that the claims against the State Defendants were 

"unreasonable and without foundation even though they were not brought in subjective bad 

faith," which justified a fee award against Plaintiff under 42 U.S.C. § 1988. Mem. Op. and 

Order-(Doc. No. 145) at 8. The State Defendants argue that the Magistrate Judge applied this 

Court's determination on Plaintiffs lack of subjective bad faith to preclude a pre-April 18, 2005 

award of fees against Plaintiffs attorney when ruling on the § 1927 fee request. The Court 

disagrees. Judge Garcia correctly applied the proper standard under § 1927. See R.D. " 57-60 

at II, 15-16,20-21. 

Judge Garcia made factual findings that Mr. Montoya's litigation activities after April 18, 

2005 "needlessly prolonged and increased the costs of the litigation." R.D. ~ 58 at II. Judge 

Garcia concluded that by missing deadlines, by failing to respond to motions, and by running up 

costs and fees after summary judgment was granted for the State Defendants, «Montoya's 

conduct as an attorney in this case was inappropriate." RD. at 20. Judge Garcia further 

determined that "Montoya acted poorly, but he didn't prosecute the action with subjective bad 

faith [and that] the proper sanction would be to award the State Defendants the fees they incurred 

after summary judgment was granted on April 18, 2005, because those fees are attributable to 

Montoya's litigation practices which needlessly increased the State's fees." RD. at 20. 

This Court agrees with Judge Garcia that attorney Montoya should not be subjected to a 

monetary sanction for all the fees the State Defendants incurred during the litigation, but only to 

those incurred after summary judgment was granted. It is true that a court may award sanctions 

against an attomey who "multiplies the proceedings in any case unreasonably and vexatiously." 

3
 



Vol' I,+'''V IV I ;) •.cq me UIsclpllnary tiOara (FAX)5057666833 P.048JOS7 

va<>o I. u..,.-.... v-UUL". .".Jnr-u"v UUljUIlltlil IO-t: rlll::u . JI 101 LUU 1 r'C1ge q. UI ;) 

28 U.S.C. § 1927. It has been shown that attorney Montoya multiplied the proceedings, and that 

he acted unreasonably and vexatiously. However, even when such a showing is '!lade, a court is 

not required to impose sanctions, and a court is never required to impose the full amount 

requested by the opposing party; the award of sanctions is discretionary. Center for Legal 

Advocacy v. Earnest, 89 Fed. Appx, 192, 193 (10th Cir. 2004) (unpublished) (§ 1927 "permits, 

but does not require" sanctions); see also Walter v. Fiorenzo, 840 F.2d 427,433 (7th Cir. 1998) 

("award offees under § 1927 is given solely to the discretion ofthe district court"). Cf Loftus v. 

Southeastern Pennsylvania Transp. Authority, 8 F.Supp. 2d 464,466 n.1 (ED. Pa, 1998) 

($23,000 in fees requested, reduced to award of $4,000 in "exercise of discretion"), affd 187 

F .3d 626 (3rd Cir. 1999). Moreover, § 1927 sanctions are not available for the entire case. 

Steinert v. Winn Group, Inc.. 440 F.3d 1214, 1225 (lOth Cir. 2006) ("it is not possible to 

multiply proceedings until after those proceedings have begun") (emphasis in original). 

Even though it has not been shown that Mr. Montoya acted with subjective bad faith. his 

conduct in this case meets the objective standard for bad faith, in that he brought federal 

discrimination claims that had no basis, engaged in dilatory tactics, and continued to assert 

meritless claims long after it became clear that the claims had no basis. Furthennore, after being 

given the opportunity to show cause why sanctions· should not be imposed against him, Mr. 

Montoya failed to appear at the hearing scheduled by Judge Garcia. "SectiDn 1927 targets 

conduct that multiplies the proceedings, which, when viewed objectively, manifests either 

intentional or reckless disregard of the attorney's duties to the court." Steinert. 440 F.3d at 1226 

(citation and internal quotation marks omitted); Miera v. Dairyland lns. Co., 143 F.3d 1337. 

1342 (lOth Cir.1998) (conduct that, viewed objectively, manifests either intentional or reckless 

4 
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disregard ofattomey's duties to court, warrants § 1927 sanctions). Viewed objectiYely, Mr. 

Montoya's conduct, especially after April 18,2005, manifested "intentional or reckless 

disregard" of his duties to the Court. See Braley v_Campbell, 832 F.2d 1504, 1512 (10th Cir. 

1987), Thus, Mr. Montoya's conduct meets the standards for an award of sanctions against him 

under § 1927. 

THEREFORE IT IS ORDERED: 

I. The State Defendants' Objections (Doc. No. 172) are overruled; 

2. Movant Dennis W. Montoya's Objections (Doc. No. 173) are overruled; 

3. Chief Magistrate Judge Lorenzo F. Garcia's Findings, Analysis and Recommended 

Disposition (Doc. No. 170) are adopted in full; 

4. The State Defendants' attorney fees in the amount of $6,448.50 are assessed against 

Dennis W. Montoya as a sanction under 28 U.S.C. § 1927, and are to be paid by July 20, 2007. 
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CHIEF DISCipLlNARY COUNSEL COMPLAINT 

RESPONDENT: Dennis W. Montoya 

RULES: 16-101,16-301,16-303 and 16-804(D) 

DATE; 15 March 2010 

This matter arises out ofRespondent's handling of a civil rights action .filed on 
behalfof client Judith Sizemore entitled Sizemore v. Department ofLabor, Cause No. 
CV-04-00272 JPIDJS in the United States District Court for New Mexico. 

Sizemore was employed by the NM Department ofLabor from May 1995 until 
her discharge in 2003. As head of the Department's Management Information Systems 
Bureau ("MISB"), she was responsible for the direct supervision ofsix employees (one of 
whom was her administrative aide and friend Sylvana Luciani ("Luciani") and indirect 
supervision of another fifty employees. In this role, her duties included ensuring that 
employees performed their work and adhered to policies, procedures and regulations of 
the Department ofLabor; approving sick, annual, administrative and FMLA leave 
requests; and evaluating the perfonnance ofem.ployees under her direct supervision. 

After a thorough independent investigation (conducted by Robert Caswell 
Investigations ['"RCf'D ofrumors that Sizemore was aware of a pattern ofleave abuse by 
Luciani and had failed to correct it. the Department ofLabor terminated the employment 
of three individuals, including Sizemore and Luciani. With respect to Sizemore, the State 
determined that her pattern ofneglect and misconduct was so egregious that her 
employment could no longer be continued. 

Sizemore filed claims with the EEOC alleging discrimination based upon various 
categories ofprotected status. After conducting its own investigation, the EEOC 
concluded that there was no evidentiary support for any claim ofdiscrimination. 
Notwithstanding the results of two separate investigations and the State's characterization 
of her conduct as egregious, Sizemore filed suit against the State ofNew Mexico, various 
individual State defendants, and RCI raising claims under 42 USC §1983 Title vn and 
various common law claims. Both the State and RCI filed motions for summary 
judgment, and both motions were granted. The lawsuit was dismissed on April 18, 2005, 
and the 1otll Circuit affinned the dismissals. Both the State and RCI requested that their 
attorney fees be assessed against Sizemore. Additionally, the State made a second request 
that attorney fees be assessed against Respondent pursuant to 28 USC § 1927, which 
allows the Court to impose sanctions against "[a]ny attomey...who...multiplies the 
proceedings in any case unreasonably and vexatiously." 

EXHIBIT 

c 
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After the Court's dismissal ofthe cases against the State and RCI. Respondent 
filed numerous additional pleadings for Sizemore, induding motions to reconsider and to 
set aside the Court's determination or to file Dut-of-time responses. A~ a hearing to 
determines the reasonableness ofthe requests for attorney fees, Judge Lorenzo Garcia 
found that these litigation activities "needlessly prolonged and increased the costs of the 
litigation" and concluded that by missing deadlines, failing to respond to motions, and by 
running up costs and fees after summaryjudgment was granted, Respondent's "conduct 
as an attorney in this case was inappropriate.)J He also determined that it would be proper 
to assess the State's attorney fees incurred after summaryjudgment against Respondent 
C<because those fees are attributable to [his] litigation practices which needlessly 
increased the State's fees." 

The COlrrt (Judge James Parker) ~dopted Judge Garcia's recommendation and 
assessed $6448.50 ofthe State's attorney fees against Respondent personally. Claims 
against Sizemore were found to be justified but were Dot assessed due to her physical and 
financial condition; Defendant ReI had Dot requested fees pursuant to § 1927. 

By virtue of this conduct, Respondent may have failed to provide competent 
representation to a client, thus violating Rule 16-101 NMRA. He may also have violated 
Rule 16-301 by asserting or controverting issues therein where there was no basis for 
doing so that was not frivolous. It appears that Respondent may also have failed to make 
reasonable efforts to expedite litigation in violation ofRule 16-302 NMRA and engaged 
in conduct prejudicial to the administration ofjustice in violation of16-804(D) NMRA. 

~~as this investigation prog=ses. 

Vir a L. Ferrara 
ChiefDisciplinary Counsel 

- - -----------_ .. ---- -----_.----,-- ---" ' :=.:'--=.:'-.. "--=.:."~'="'~,.'=-=-":":::' '~~"~- -~'~~~-~~~---"---"-'----=-'----'--
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEW:MEXICO
 

IMELDA HERNANDEZ 

Plaintiff, 

vs. Civ. No. 08-323 JCHlCEG 

JOHN E. POTIER, 
Postmaster General ofthe United States, 

Defendant. 

MEMORANDUM OPlNION AND ORDER 

This matter comes before the Court on Defendant John E. Potter's Motion/or Summary 

Judgment, filed May 4, 2009 [Doc.42]. The Court having considered the motion, briefs, 

exhibits, and relevant law. and being otherwise fully informed, fmds that Defendant's motion is 

well taken and should be GRANTED. 

BACKGROUND 

Plaintifflmelda Hernandez is a female ofMexican origin who was 35 years old at the 

time ofthe events leading to this action. She began working for the United States Postal Service 

("USPS") on February 18, 2006 as a Rural Carrier Associate ("RCA") assigned to the Richard 

Pino Station in Albuquerque, New Mexico. As with all other new RCAs, Plaintiff's status with 

the USPS was probationary until she worked ninety days or was employed for a calendar year, 

whichever occurred first. The probationary period provides the USPS with the opportunity to 

evaluate an employee's suitability for permanent employment. During her probationary period, 

Plaintiffwas an "at-will employee" whose employment with the USPS could be terminated for 

any legal. non-discriminatory reason. 

EXHIBIT 



" .. r ..., ...v.v 'oJ.L';} III~ U.::.......,lIl1dll DUi:lIU (rAX)5057666833 P.053/057
 

vtl:::;,;; I.Uo-~V-UUJ... •..n .....n-L,,\.:J UUGUlllern 0 I rllea v... 41LUUtl ~age ~ or ·I~ 

Plaintiff's role as an RCA entailed her filling in for regular rural mail carriers who were 

on vacation or e>ctended leave. RCAs are not salaried employees. and are instead paid at an 

hourly rate. Plaintiff's pay, as well as that of a]J other RCAs. was based in part on an "evaluated 

time system." under which she was paid the "evaluated" (estimated) time for the routes she 

handled, regardless ofher actual hours worked, in thos~ weeks in which she did not work over 

forty hours. If she worked more than forty hours in a week, she was paid for her actual hours 

worked. including overtime for the hours worked in excess·of forty. Plaintiff's hourly pay rate 

was $16.45. 

On May 12, 2006. Plaintiffdelivered mail on Rural Route 54, a route having an evaluated 

time of9.29 hours. Plaintiffcompleted the route in only six hours. Plaintiffwas paid for the 

actual time she spent delivering the route, rather than the evaluated time. Plaintiffclaims that 

she should have been paid instead for the evaluated time, resulting in an underpayment of3.29 

bours or $54.12. Plaintiffworked a total of50.8 hours during the weekly pay period that 

included May 12. 

On May 22.2006, Plaintiff delivered mail on Rural Route 105. While completing ber 

route, Plaintiff lost her "Arrow Key"- a master key that opens every customer mailbox in 

Albuquerque. Plaintiff told her co-worker, Jay Grubennan. that she had lost her key. He then 

lent Plaintiffhis arrow key so that she could complete her route. At the end of that workday, Mr. 

Grubennan notified James lann, a Customer Service Supervisor at Richard Pino Station, that 

Plaintiffhad lost her Arrow Key. Despite several USPS workers returning to the area to search 

for the key. it was not located until two days later. when it was found by a customer and returned 

to the Station. 

On May 24.2006, Adam Trujillo. a Customer Service Supervisor and Officer in Charge. 

2 
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ofRichard Pino Station, conducted an investigative interview ofPlaintiff. During the interview, 

Plaintiff agreed that, on May 22. she completed paperwork signing out the Arrow Key to do her 

route, but that she lost the key while delivering mail on Route 105. She admitted that the key 

was not attached to her belt or clothing. as required by regulations. and that she was responsible 

for the loss. Plaintiff now claims that she did not attach the key to her belt or clothing because 

the chain to which the key was attached was too short to make the key functional when it was 

attached. She also asserts that, because she is hearing impaired. she did not hear the key hit the 

ground when she lost it. 

After the interview with Mr. Trujillo. Plaintiffwas not called to return to work. On June 

8. 2006. Mr. Trujillo issued a Notice ofSeparation to Plaintiff, informing her that she would be 

separated from her employment with the USPS, effective June 10.2006. The Notice of 

Separation stated that it was based on Plaintiff's inability to perform her assigned duties in an 

efficient manner. It specifically referenced her loss ofthe Arrow Key and that she did not report 

its loss. Mr. Truj iIlo issued the separation while Plaintiffwas still within her probationary 

period. 

On June 6,2008. Plaintiff rIled her First Amended Complaint [Doc. 3], which stated four 

counts. Count 1(Age Dis[;rirnination)~ Count n (National Origin Discrimination-Mex.ican). and 

Count ill (Gender Discrimination) all relate to Plaintiff's allegations that she was denied equal 

pay for her May 12, 2006 route and that she was wrongfully terminated. Count IV (Retaliation) 

alleges that she was wrongfully terminated for "speaking out against discriminatory treatment on 

the job." Amended Complaint [Doc. 3] at ~ 43. In addition. although not referenced in any of 

the Counts, Plaintiff's Complaint also asks the Court to declare that Defendant viclated the 

3
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Rehabilitation Act of1973. !d. at 12.' 

LEGAL STANDARDS 

A. Summary Judgment 

Rule 56 ofthe Federal Rules ofCivil Procedure provides for entry of swnmary judgment 

where "there is no genuine issue as to any material fact" and the moving party is "entitled to 

judgment as a matter oflaw." Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c). "Summary jUdgment is appropriate only if 

the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrog~tories, and admissions on ftle, together with the 

affidavits, ifany, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving 

party is entitled to ajudgment as a matter of law." Thomas v.IBM, 48 F.3d 418,484 (lOth Cir. 

1995) (citation omitted). In applying this standard, the record and reasonable inferences . 

therefrom are viewed in the light most favorable to the party opposing summary judgment, in 

this case, Plaintiff. See McKnightv. Kimberly Clark Corp., 149 F. 3d 1125, 1128 (lOth Cu. 

1998). 

The moving party has the initial burden of demonstrating the ·absence of a genuine issue 

ofmaterial fact See Celate:x Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 323 (1986). ·Once the moving 

I Because Plaintiffhas not pled a claim for violation ofthe Rehabilitation Act of 1973. or 
sufficiently indicated the manner in which Defendant aUegedly violated the Act, the Court 
cannot fully address this matter. The Court notes, however, that in Plaintiff's pursuit ofthe 
portion ofher EEO complaint related to her hearing impairment, she indicated that «[t]he type of 
accommodation I need was for someone to clearly show me how important it was to pull down 
the mail the same way as the 'the line oftravel' required otherwise it was very hard while 
delivering~" EEO Investigative Affidavit, attached as Ex. H to Defendant's Reply to Plaintif.rs 
Response to Motion for Summary Judgment (Doc. 47] at 3. This requested accommodation 
appears to be unconnected to Plaintiffs alleged hearing loss. Thus. the reference in the 
Complaint to Plaintiff's request '<to be accommodated for her disability," First Amended 
Complaint [Doc. 3] at ~ 32, must either refer to a request unconnected to her alleged hearing 
loss, or must refer to a requested accommodation not referenced in her EEO complaint, and 
therefore not properly before the Court because it has not been administratively exhausted. 

4 
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party meets its burden, "the burden shifts to the nonmovant to go beyond the pleadings and set 

forth specific facts that would be admissible in evidence in the event oftria! from which a 

rational trier of fact could find for the nonmovant." Adler v. Wal-MartStores, Inc., 144 F.3d 

664,671 (lOth Cir. 1998). The opposing party may not rest upon u mere aJlegations and denials 

in the pleadings ... but must set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for 

trial." Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242,248-49 (1986) (citation omitted). An issue 

offact is genuine if the evidence is significantly probative or more than merely colorable such 

that ajury could reasonably return a verdict for the noru,noving party. See id. at 249. In 

conducting its summary judgment analysis, the Court must not weigh evidence or assess the 

credibility of any wi1ness, but instead must focus solely on whether genuine factual issues exist 

requiring a trial. See id. at 249, 255. 

B. Age Discrimination 

The Age Dis~riminatioDin Employment Act, 29 U.S.C. § 621 et seq. ("ADEA"), 

prohibits an employer from failing to hire or discharging any individual, or discriminating 

against such individual with respect to her compensation, or terms, conditions, and privileges of 

employment, because of such individual I s age. See MacKenzie v. City and County ofDe1CVer, 

414 F3d 1266, 1276-77 (10th Cir. 2005). To establish aprimajOcie age discrimination 

disparate treatment claim, a plaintiff must demonstrate that: 1) she was within the age group 

protected by the ADEA when she was discriminated against; and 2) she was treated differently 

than similarly-situated employees engaged in the same conduct- See id. at 1277. To establish a 

primafacie age discrimination discharge claim, a plaintiff must demonstrate that: 1) she was ,. 
within the age group protected by the ADEA when she was terminated; 2) she was performing 

her job satisfactorily; 3) she was discharged; and 4) she was replaced by a younger worker. See 

5
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Miller v. Eby Realty Group LLC, 396 F .3d 1105,1111 (lOth Cir. 2005). 

C. Discharge Based on Gender or National Origin 

In order to establish a primaJacie claim ofdiscriminatory discharge based on gender or 

national origin under Title VII ofthe Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U .S.C. § 2000e et seq., a 

plaintiffmust show that: 1) she is a member ofa protected class; 2) she was qualified for her 

position; 3) despite her qualifications, she was discharged; and 4) the job was not eliminated 

after her discharge. Rivera v. City and County ojDenver, 365 F.3d 912,920 (lOth Cir. 2004) 

.	 (national origin discrimination); Adamson v. Multi Cmty. DiversifiedServs. j Inc., 514 

F.3d 1136, 1150 (lOth Cir. 2008) (gender discrimination). 

Claims involving circumstantial evidence ofdiscrimination, rather than direct evidence, 

are subject to the three-step burden-shifting framework outlined in McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. 

Green, 411 U.S. 792, &02-04 (1973), and i1s progeny. See Adamson, 514 F 3d at 1145. To 

survive summary judgment under this framework, a plaintiffmust initially establish a prima 

facie case ofdiscrimination. See Garrett v. Hewlett-Packard Co., 305 F.3d 1210, 1216 (1Oth 

Cir.2002). Ifthe plaintiff cannot establish a primafacie case, srnnmary judgment should be 

entered on behalfofthe defendant Id. Ifthe plaintiff can establish aprimajacie case, the 

burden shifts to the defendant "to articulate some legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason" for its 

action. McDonnell Douglas, 411 U.S. at 802. This burden is one ofproduction, not persuasion. 

See Reeves v. Sanderson Plumbing Prod., Inc., 530 U.S. 133,142 (2000). The defendant need 

not demonstrate that the reason it relied upon was factually correct, or even that the action was 

actually motivated by the proffered reason; it must simply offer a facially nondiscriminatory 

reason for its action. See Tex. Dep 'toJCmty. Affairsv. Burdine, 450 U.S. 248,254 (1981). 

Ifthe defendant meets this burden, the preswnption ofunlawful discrimination drops 

6 
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from the case. See St. Mary's Honor Ctr. v. Hicks, 509 U.S. 502, 506 (1993). Once the 

defendant has met its burden, "summaryjudgment is warranted unless the employee can show 

. there is a genuine issue ofmaterial fact as to whether the proffered reasons are pretextual." 

Plotke v. White, 405 F3d 1092, 1099 (10th Cir. 2005). The relevant inquiry here is not whether 

the defendant's actions were wise, fair, or correct, but whether the defendant honestly believed 

those reasons and acted in good faith on those beliefs. See Riggs v. Airtran Airways, Inc., 497 

F3d. 1108, 1118-19 (1Oth Cir. 2007). "Pretext can be shown by such weaknesses, 

implausibilities, inconsistencies, incoherencies, or contradictions in the employer's proffered 

legitimate reasons for its action that a reasonable factfinder could· rationally fmd them unworthy 

ofcredence and hence infer that the.employer did not act for the asserted -non-discriminatory 

reasons." Morgan 'V. Hilti, Inc., 108 F3d 1319, 1323 (lOth Cir. 1997). 

D. Wage Discrimination Based on Gender or National Origin 

To establish a claim ofwage discrimination on the basis ofgender or national origin 

under Title VII, a plaintiff must prove that the employer intentionally discriminated against her. 

See Jaramillo v. Colo. Judicial Dep 'f, 427 F3d 1303, 1306 (1Oth Cir. 2005). To make a prima 

facie case, the plaintiffmust demonstrate that she was paid less than similarly situated males and 

employees not ofher national origin, and that such disparity was the result of intentional 

discrimination. See Mickelson 'V. N.Y. Life Ins. Co., 460 F.3d 1304, 1311 (lOth Cir.2006). If the 

plaintiffcan establish her prima/acie case, the Court then uses the McDonnell Douglas burden­

shifting framework, discussed above, to evaluate whether the claim cail survive summary 

judgment. See Mickelson, 460 F3d at 1311. 

E. Retaliation 

Title VII prohibits retaliation against employees for opposing any practice made unlawful 
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by Title vn or for asserting a .charge, testifying, assisting or participating in any manner in an 

investigation, proceeding, or hearing under Title VTI. See Gunnell v. Utah Valley State Coli., 

152 F.3d 1253, 1262 (lOth Cir. 1998). To establish a prima fade case ofretaliation, the plaintiff 

must show that: 1) she engaged in protected opposition to discrimination or participated in a 

proceeding or hearing under Title Vll; 2) she suffered an adverse acti9n that a reasonable 

employee would have fOlmd material; and 3) a causal nexus exists between her opposition and 

the employer's adverse action. See Timmerman v. U.S. Bank, N.A., 483 F.3d 1106, 1122-23 

(10th Cir.2007). In addition, the Tenth Circuit also requires that the plaintiff show that the 

management personnel responsible for making the decision had lmowledge ofp1aintiff's 

protected acts. See Montes v. Vail Clinic,.Inc., 497 F.3d 1160, 1176 (lOth Cir. 2007). Similar to 

a discrimmation cla~ once the employee establishes aprimafacie case of retaliation, the 

burden ofproduction shifts to the employer to articulate a legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason 

for the adverse employment action. See O'Neal v, Ferguson Constr. &.,237 F.3d 1248, 1252 

(lOth Cir. 2001). Ifthe defendant success:fu1ly articulates such a reason, the employee must then 

demonstrate that the employer's proffered reason for the adverse action is pretextual. ld. 

ANALYSIS 

A. Age Discrimination 

Plaintiffclaims that she was discriminated against by being underpaid and wrongfully 

terminated because of her age in violation of the ADEA. In order to be within the age group 

protected by the ADEA, Plaintiffmust have been at least 40 years old at the time ofthe alleged 

discrimination. See 29 U.S.C. § 633a(a). Plaintiff admits that her date of birth is December 8, 

1970. See Plaintiff's Responses to Defendant's First Set of Requests for Admission, attached as 

Exhibit A to Defendant's Memorandum in Support ofMotion for Summary Judgment 

8 
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(hereinafter '"DePt Mem.") [Doc. 43] at 1. Thus, Plaintiffwould have been 35 years old at the 

time of the events giving rise to her claim, and is not within the age group protected by the 

ADEA. Summary judgment is therefore granted on Plaintiffs ADEA claim? 

B. Discharge Based on Gender or National Origin 

As previously discussed, in order to establish a primafaCie case of impermissible 

discharge based on gender or national origin, Plaintiffmust demonstrate that she is a member of 

a protected class, that she was qualified for her position, that she was discharged despite her 

qualification, and that her position was not eliminated after her discharge. hI this case, there is 

n·o dispute that plaintiff is a member ofprotected classes as a female ofMexican origin, that she 

was discharged, or that her position was filled after her discharge. Thus, the only element of the 

primajacie case for which Plaintiffmust produce evidence is that she was qualified for her 

position. Although Defendant disputes the issue ofPlaintiffs qualification, the Court will 

presume, for purposes of deciding this motion only, that Plaintiffwas qualified for her position 

and that she has met herprimafacie case. 

2 The Court notes that Plaintiff's Complaint claimed that Plaintiffwas over 40 years old. 
See Amended Complaint [Doc. 3] at "" 6, 9, and 35. In filing a complaint, an attorney is 
certifying to the Court ''that to the best of the [attorney's] knowledge, information, and belief. 
fonned after an inquiry reasonable under the circumstances...the factual contentions have 
evidentiary support." Fed. R. Civ. P. l1(b). Although it is unclear how this ADEA claim, 
misrepresenting Plaintiffs age by at least five years, could have been filed based on lmowledge 
fonned after an inquiry that was reasonable under the circumstances, the Court will assume that 
it was a mistake made in good faith. What is even less clear, however, is why no effort appears 
to have been made to drop the claim following the revelation ofPlaintiff's actual age. Not only 
did Plaintiff's counsel not file an amended complaint dropping the claim, but counsel did not 
renounce the claim in her Response to Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment, even after 
having admitted that Plaintiffwas only 35 years old at the time of the events. In fact, the Pretrial 
Order, filed June 22,2009 [Doc. 50], still contains references to Plaintiff's claims of age 
discrimination, months after she conceded her true age. This is completely llllprofessional and a 
matter the court intends to take up with counsel after the conclusion ofthis case. 

9 
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Given the presumption that Plaintiffhas met herprimajacie case, the burden shifts to 

Defendant ''to articulate some legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason" for its action. McDonnell 

Douglas, 411 U.S. at 802. Defendant easily meets this burden. Given Plaintiff's probationary 

status in her employment; the asserted grounds for her dismissal would not even have to rise to 

the level ofjust cause to constitute a legitimate, nondiscriminatory basis for tennination. 

Plaintiff does not deny that she was hired by the USPS on a probationary basis and was required 

to perfonn her job satisfactorily for ninety days actually worked or one calendar year, whichever 

occurred first, before she was no longer a probationary employee. During the probationary 

period, the USPS -has the right to "separate," i.e., tenninate, an employee ''because work 

performance or conduct during this period fails to demonstrate qualification for continued postal 

employment," as long as the employee is notified in writing as to why he or she is being 

terminated. Section 365.32 ofthe Postal Service's Employee Relations Manual, attached as Ex. 

2 to Ex. C ofDef't Mem. [doc. 43]; see also Articles 12.1.A and 30.2.b ofthe Agreement 

between the United States Postal Service and the National Rural Letter Carriers' Association, 

attached as Ex. I to Ex. C ofDef't Mem. (discussing and defming the probationary period).3 

3 Plaintiffdisputes Defendant's contention that the USPS can separate from its employ a 
probationary employee at any time during the probationary period, and cites Article 16 of the 
Agreement between the United States Postal Service and the National Rural Letter Carriers' 
Association, which governs disciplinary procedures. See Plaintiff's Response to Defendant's 
Motion for Swnmary Judgment [Doc. 44] at 10. This citation creates, at most, a legal question 
regarding the limits ofDefendant's power to dismiss Plaintiff. It does not create a material 
question offaet. In addition, Article 16, cited by Plaintiffwithout any context, governs only 
discipline or discharge ofa pennanent employee, rather than probationary-period "separation," 
which does not provide a probationary employee with the same procedural protections as a 
permanent employee. See American Postal Workers Union v. United States Postal Service~ 940 
F.2d 704, 707 (D.C. Crr. 1991). Allowing a probationary employee to "enforce against the 
[USPS] the just-cause requirement for dismissals contained in Article 16...would undennine the 
purpose ofthe probationary employment period-to permit an employer to evaluate a new 
employee on a trial basis and terminate [her]for whatever reason it chooses during the trial 

10 
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In its letter to Plaintiff notifying her that she was being separated from her employment 

with the USPS, Defendant cited Plaintiff's loss ofthe Arrow Key and her failure to report that 

loss. See Notice of Separation, attached as Ex. 1 to Ex. A ofDef't Mem. [Doc. 43]. The 

supervisor responsible for making the decision to tenninate Plaintiff, Adam Trujillo, testified 

that he tenninated Plaintiff solely for the reasons cited in the Notice of Termination. See 

Declaration ofAdam Trujillo, attached as Ex. C to Deft Mem. at ~ 18. Plaintiff admits that she 

lost the Arrow Key. See Pl. Resp. (Doc. 44] at 14. 'Losing an Arrow Key appears to be a serious 

infraction, as this master key opens practically every mailbox in Albuquerque,4 potentially 

compromising the security ofeveryone's mail in the event of its loss. Thus, Defendant's 

explanation provides a legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for the tennination. 

As Defendant has met its burden, any presumption ofunlawful discrimination drops from 

the case. See St. Mary's Honor Ctr. v. Hicks, 509 U.S. 502,506 (1993). Thus, summary 

judgment for Defendant is warranted unless Plaintiff can demonstrate the existence of a. genuine 

issue ofmaterial fact as to whether Defendant's proffered reasons .for tennination are mereIy a 

period ofemployment." ld. (emphasis added). 

4 Plaintiffdisputes Defendant's material fact that "[a]n ~ow key is a master key that 
opens every customer mailbox in Albuquerque." See PI. Resp. [Doc. 44] at 12. As grounds for 
disputing this fact, Plaintiff selectively and misleadingly cites the deposition testimony ofAdam 
Trujillo. See id. Plaintiffparaphrases Mr. Trujillo's testimony as indicating that an Arrow Key 
is "a special key that is assigned specifically to the Agency and also a special key that's assigned 
to specific zones....Each one is assigned to a specific area." [d. (ellipsis in original). Mr. 
Trujillo's full testimony indicates that an Arrow Key is "a special key that is assigned 
specifically to the Agency and also a special key that's assigned to specific zones. So, i.e., cities. 
So in other words, you cannot have an Arrow Key in California open up a box in, you knaw, New 
Mexico. Each one is assigned to a specific area." Deposition ofAdam Trujillo, attached as Ex. 5 
to Pl. Resp. [Doc. 44] at 50:7-11. The full quotation does not provide any grounds for 
challenging Defendant's statement offact. Plaintiff's use of an altered quotation that changes 
the substance ofMr. Trujillo's statement as a basis for challenging a material fact is disturbingly 
misleading at best. 

11 
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subterfuge for discrimination on the basis of gender or national origin. A plaintiffcan raise the 

issue ofpretext by demon~ting,through admissible evidence, "such weaknesses, 

implausibilities, inconsistencies, incoherencies, orcontradictions in the employer's proffered 

legitirDate reasons for its action that a reasonable factfinder could rationally find them unworthy 

of credence and hence infer that the employer did not act for the asserted non-discriminatory 

reasons." Morgan v. Hild, Inc., 108 F.3d 1319, 1323 (1Oth Cir. 1997). In examining the issue of 

pretext, the Court's role is <'not to act as a <super personnel department' that second guesses 

employers' business judgments," but rather to determine whether the plaintiffhas presented 

sufficient evidence to enable a fact finder to conclude that the defendant's proffered reasons for 

termination may not be worthy ofbelief. Simms v. Oklahoma ex reI Dep't ofMental Health and 

Substance Abuse Servs., 165 F3d 1321, 1329 (lOth Cir.1999) (citation omitted). 

Plaintiffhas offered no admissible evid~nce to indicate that Defendant's explanation for 

her termination was pretextual. Plaintiffdoes not contend that Mr. Trujillo, who solely made the 

decision to tenninate her, ever commented on her gender or national origin in a disparaging 

manner, nor does she contend that any other supervisor discussed her gender or national origin. 

Thus, Plaintiff's tennination did not take place under circumstances that give rise to an inference 

ofdiscrimination. 

Plaintiffcontends that Defendant's explanation is unworthy ofbeliefbecause someone 

else allegedly lost an Arrow Key and was not terminated. Plaintiff's contention is based on a 

conversation that she allegedly had with someone named Maria Rodriguez who told her that she 

had lost a key and not been fIred. See Plaintiff's deposition, attached as Ex. E. to Dert Mem. 

[Doc. 43] at 49:3-50:4. As an initial matter, Plaintiffs contention carmot create a material 

question of fact, because it relies on hearsay rather than admissible evidence. See Yo.ung v. 
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Dillon Cos., Inc" 468 F.3d 1243, 1252 (1Oth Crr. 2006) (court may not consider inadmIssible 

hearsay testimony from depositions submitted in opposition to motion for summary judgment). 

Even ifPlaintiff's contention that Ms. Rodriguez was not tenninated after losing a key was not 

based on hearsay testimony, she has failed to demonstrate its materiality to the case. Plaintiff 

has not indicated whether Ms. Rodriguez was a probationary or permanent employee, the time 

period in which she lost the key, how long the key remained missing, whether she immediately 

reported the key missing, who her supervisor was, or whether the post office at which Ms. 

Rodriguez worked (Rio Rancho) had the same policies as Richard Pino Station. As such, 

Plaintiffhas not offered any evidence that she was similarly situated to Ms. Rodriguez, and so 

Ms. Rodriguez's alleged experience is not material to this case. 

Plaintiff also contends that sufficient evidence exists to cast doubt on Defendant's 

explanation that she was fIred in part for not immediately reporting that she lost the Arrow Key, 

because her cell phone records indicate that she called Richard Pino Station twice on the 

afternoon ofthe day she lost the key. See PI. Resp. [Doc. 44] at 14-15. However, she has not 

presented any evidence that she spoke with anyone at the Station, that she informed anyone there 

that she had lost the key, or that such information was relayed to Mr. Trujillo. As suc~ the 

telephone call, by itself, is not relevant to the question ofwhetber Mr. Trujillo believed that she 

had not immediately reported the loss oftbe key. Plaintiffhas not presented any other evidence 

to contest the swom statements ofMr. Trujillo and :MI. Jarm that they were not notifIed about 

the loss ofthe key until the evening of the day it was lost, and they were notified by Plaintiff s 

co-worker, Jay Guberman, who had loaned her his key. Simply put, Plaintiffhas not 

demonstrated that Defendant's "proffered [race-neutral] reasons were so incoherent, weak, 

_inconsistent, or contradictory that a rational trier of fact could conclude the reasons were 

13 
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unworthy ofbelief." Stover v. Martinez, 382 F.3d 1064, 1076 (10th Cir. 2004). Thus, 

Defendant's motion for summary judgment must be granted on the discriminatory discharge 

counts. 

C. Wage Discrimination Based on Gender or National Origin 

In order to prevail on a wage discrimination claim brought under Title vn, a plaintiff 

must demonstrate not only that she was paid less than similarly-situated co-workers ofdifferent 

gender or national origin, but also that such disparity mpay was intentional on the part of the 

employer, and was motivated by the plaintiff's gender or national origin. See Mickelson v. N. Y 

Life Ins. Co., 460 F.3d 1304, 1311 (lOth Cir. 2006). Plaintiffhas failed to come forward with 

any evidence supporting her contention that she was underpaid, or that such alleged 

underpayment resulted from unlawful discrimination, so Defendant is entitled to· summary 

judgment on the wage discrimination claims. 

In her Complaint, Plaintiffcontends that her pay was inconsistent and that she was being 

paid less than comparably suited males and persons ofnon-Mexican origin. First Amended 

Complaint [Doc. 3] at 4, ~ 16. However, in response to an interrogatory propounded by 

Defendant, Plaintiff identified only one instance in which she was allegedly underpaid-on May 

12, 2006, when she was paid for the actual time she spent delivering mail on Rural Route 54, 

rather than the evaluated time. See Ex. F, attached to Deft Mem. [Doc. 43]. 

In his declaration, Customer Service Supervisor James Jarm described the compensation 

structure for ReAs such as Plaintiff, who are paid according to the system detailed in Article 

9.2.1 of the Agreement between the USPS and the National Rural Letter Carriers' Association. 

See Declaration ofJames Jarm, attached as Ex. D. to Deft Mem. at 1 10. The Article provides 

that RCAs are paid the "evaluated" time for delivering mail on their assigned routes when they 

14
 



05114/2010 15:29 Tne DISCiplinary Board (FAX)5057666833 P.009/057 

Case 1:08-cv-003~~-JCH-CG Document 51 Filed Ob, J4/2009 Page 15 of 19 

do not work in excess offorty hours per week. When the RCA's total actual hours worked 

exceeds forty hours, their compensation for the week is based on the actual number ofhours 

worked plus overtime for the number of hours worked in excess of forty hours. ld. Plaintiff 

does not dispute this characterization ofthe RCA compensation structure. See PI. Resp. [Doc. 

44] at 9-10. Thus, whether Plaintiffshould have been paid the evaluated time or the actual time 

for delivering the mail on Rural Route 54 00 May 12,2006 depends on the number ofhours that 

she worked during that weekly pay period. 

Plaintiffhas admitted that May 12,2006 falls within Week 2 ofPay Period 10, and that 

she worked a total of50.80 hours during that pay period. See id. at 16-17. According to 

Plaintiff's Earnings Statement submitted by Defendant, during Week 2 ofPay Period 10, 

Plaintiffworked 34.34 hours on Rural Route 107, 5.66 hours on Rural R01:lt~ 106. and 10.80 

hours ofovertime, for a total of 50.80 hours worked during the pay period. See Ex. 3 to Ex. D, 

attached to Def't Mem. As explained by Mr. Jann in his declaration, because she worked over 

forty hours that week, Plaintiffwas only entitled to be paid for the actual time she spent 

delivering mail on Rural Route 54 on May 12, 2006, rather than the evaluated time. Mr. Jarm 

further explained that Rural Route 54 was not explicitly referenced in Plaintiff's earning 

statement because the six hours worked on May 12,'2006 were overtime, and were therefore 

included in the 10.80 hours of overtime listed on the statement under Miscellaneous Code A999. 

See Ex. D, attached to Deft Mem. at 112. Plaintiffhas proffered no evidence to challenge or 

rebut Mr. Jann's explanation. Her contention that she was underpaid is nothing more than a 

conclusory allegation lacking in !actual support, and does not create a genuine question of 

material fact. Even ifPlaintiffcould somehow demonstrate that she should have been paid for 

the evaluated time rather than the actual time worked on that particular day, Defendant is sti II 
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entitled to smnmary judgment because Plaintiffhas not come forward with any evidence that 

could indicate that the alleged one-time shortage of $54.12 was the result of intentional 

discrimination rather than a clerical error. 

D. Retaliation 

Plaintiff also alleges that she was terminated from her probationary employment with the 

USPS for "speaking out against discriminatory treatment on the job." First Amended Complaint 

[Doc.3J at ~ 43. A retaliation claim brought under Title VII consists ofthree elements: 1) the 

.plaintiff engaged in protected. opposition to discrimination; 2) the plaintiff suffered an adverse 

employment action; and 3) there is a causal connection between the protected activity and the 

adverse employment action. Plaintiff's retaliation claim fails because she has not provided 

evidence that she.engaged in a protected activity and has also failed to demonstrate any causal 

link between her complaint about being allegedly shorted in one paycheck and hertenninatiol1. 

For the purpose ofTitle vn retaliation claims, protected activities fall into two distinct 

~ategories-participationand opposition. Title VII's participation clause provides that an 

employer may not retaliate against an employee because the employee bas participated in any 

manner in an investigation, proceeding, or hearing under Title vn. See 42 U.S.C.A. § 2000e­

3(a). "The participation clause is designed to ensure that Title vn protections are not 

undermined by retaliation against employees who use the Title VII process to protect their 

rights." Vaughn v. Epworth Villa, 537 F.3d 1147, 1151 (10th Cir. 2008), cert. denied, 129 S. Ct 

1528 (2009). On the other hand, the opposition clause provides that an employer may not 

retaliate against an employee "because he has opposed any practice made an unlawful 

employment practice" by Title VII. 42 U.S.C.A. § 2000e-3(a). 

In this case, Plaintiffs actions can only fall within the scope ofthe opposition clause 
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because there is no evidence suggesting that she was involved in any proceeding arising under 

Title VII, nor does she allege participation in any such proceeding in her First Amended 

Complaint. On the contrary, she avers that her protected activity consists of "speaking out 

against discriminatory treatment on the job." First Amended Complaint [Doc. 3]·at ~ 43. 

According to Plaintiff. her only opposition to discriminatory treatment consists ofcomplaint,; to 

her direct supervisor, Frank Ortega, that she was underpaid for her work on May 12,2006.5 

. . 
In her deposition, Plaintiff testified that on or about May 19,2006, she spoke to Mr. 

Ortega about the alleged shortage in her paycheck. See Exhibit E, attached to Def't Mem., at 33­

34. She alleges that she showed Mr. Ortega her Earnings Statement for Pay Period 10 and 

infonned him that she had not been properly paid for the work she did delivering mail on Rural 

Route 54 on May 12,2006. See id. at 35.6 Plaintiff claims that Mr. Ortega looked at the 

Earnings Statement and acknowledged that Route 54 was not specifically referenced therein. ld. 

Mr. Ortega then allegedly informed Plaintiff that he would look into the problem, that the 

problem would be fIxed, and that she would be paid on the following check. ld. According to 

Plaintiff, the foregoing was the extent ofher cOJ;lversation with Mr. Ortega. ld. at 36. 

Plaintiffs complaint to Mr. Ortega regarding her pay does not fall within the realm of 

5 In her Complaint, Plaintiff claimed that she raised her wage discrimination complaint 
with Mr. Trujillo as well. First Amended Complaint [Doc. 3] at ~ 19. However, in her answer to 
Defendant's Interrogatory No.3 and in her deposition testimony, Plaintiffrefers only to a 
conversation that she had with Mr. Ortega, and she presented DO evidence that she ever spoke 
with Mr. Trujillo about the alleged wage discrimination. See Plaintiff's Deposition, attached as 
Ex. E. to Deft Mem. at 33:24-36:20. 

6 In his Declaration, Mr. Ortega claims that Plaintiffnever informed him that she felt that 
she had not been fully paid all ofthe wages due to her. See Ex. B, attached to Deft Mem. at ~ 8. 
Nevertheless, for purposes of deciding this motion, the Court will assume that Plaintiffdid make 
such complaints to Mr. Ortega. 
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protected opposition activity under Title vn because at no time during her discussion with Mr~ 

Ortega did Plaintiff allege that she was the victim ofdiscrimination or that she had been shorted 

because of her gender. or national origin. An employer cannot engage in unJawful retaliation if it 

does not lmow that the employee has opposed or is opposing·a violation ofTitle vn. See 

Petersen v. Utah Dep'l ofCorrections, 301 F.3d 1182, 1188 (lOth Cir. 2002). Thus, because 

Plaintiff's complaint to Mr. Ortega concerning her alleged pay disparity apparently did not 

indicate that she believed the disparity stemmed from discriminatory treatment based on her 

gender or national origin, it does not constitute protect~d activity for Title VII purposes, id. al 

1189, and cannot form the basis for a retaliation complaint. 

Plaintiff's retaliation claim also fails because Plaintiff cannot establish a causal 

connection between her allegedly protected activity and her tennination. She has produced no 

evidence to indicate that Mr. Trujillo was aware that she had complained to Mr. Ortega about 

being shorted. IfMr. Trujillo was not aware ofher allegedly protected activity, by definition, he 

could not have retaliated against her for it. See Petersen, 301 F.3d at 1189 (employer's action 

against an employee cannot be because of that employee's protected opposition unless the 

employer knows the employee has engaged in protected opposition activity); Williams v. Rice, 

983 F.2d 177, ]81 (10th Cir. 1993) (plaintiffmust show that the individual who took the adverse 

action against him knew ofthe employee's protected activity). 

Finally, even ifPlaintiff could establish a primafacie case of retaliation, Defendant is 

entitled to summary judgment on this claim because it has articulated a legitimate, non­

disc·rirninatory explanation for Plaintiffs termination, and, as discussed above, Plaintifffailed to 

come forward with any evidence showing that Defendant's explanation is pretextual. 

CONCLUSION 
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IT IS. THEREFORE ORDERED that Defendant Potter's Motionfor Summary 

Judgment [Doc. 42] is GRANTED. 

~e.lL 
TED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE 
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CHIEF DISCIPLINARY COUNSEL COMPLAINT 

RESPONDENT: Dennis Montoya
 

RULES INVOLVED: Rules 16-101, 16-301, 16~303, and 16-804(D)
 

.DATE: 12 March 2010
 

This complaint arises out ofRespondent's handling ofthe case Hernandez v. 
Potter. Cause No. CV-08-0023 JCHfCEG in the United States District Court for the 
District ofNew Mexico. 

Respondent represented Hernandez in a wrongful terrninatiQn suit against the 
United States Postal Service (USPS.) In the complaint, Hernandez alleged (among other 
things) that she had been terminated because ofher age in violation ofthe Age 
Discrimination in Employment Act, 29 USC § 621 et seq. (ADEA) and that her discharge 
was based upon her gender or national origin. The Court (Judge Judith Herrara) granted 
summary judgment to the defendant on August 4,2009. 

In her Memorandum Opinion and Order granting summary judgment, Judge 
Herrara noted that in order to establish a primafacie age discrimination claim, a plaintiff 
must first demonstrate that he or she was within the age group protected by the ADEA at 
the time oftennination; in order to be within the protected group, one must have been at 
least forty (40) years.old. In her responses to Defendant's First Set ofRequests for 
Admission, Hernandez gave her date ofbirth as 12108/70, which would have made her 
thirty-five (35) at the time ofh~r tennination. Respondent made no effort to file ali 
amended Complaint dropping the age discrimination claim nor did he renounce the claim 
in bis Response to Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment. 

One defense raised by the Defendants in response to Hernandez' gender/national 
origin claim ofdiscrimination was that there were legitimate non-discriminatory bases for 
her termination, to wit: she had lost an "Arrow Key" and failed to promptly report its loss 
to her superiors. In his deposition testimony, supervisor Adam Trujillo testified that an 
Arrow Key is "a special key that is assigned specifically to the Agency and also a special 
key that's assigned to specific zones. So, for example, cities. So. in other words, you 
cannot have an Arrow Key in California open a box in, you know, New Mexico. Each 
one is assigned to a specific area." In disputing Defendants' material fact that "an arrow 
key is a master key that opens every customer mailbox in Albuquerque," Respondent 
deleted the italicized words from Trujillo's testimony thus making it appear that the 
defendant had acknowledged the lost key would only open boxes in a specific area of 
Albuquerque. Judge Herrara opined that Respondent had selectively and misleadingly 
altered the quotation as a basis for challenging a material fact. 

EXHIBIT 
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Rule 16-101 NMRA provides that an attorney must provide competent 
representation to a client. Rule 16-301 NMRA directs that a lawyer may not bring a 
frivolous claim. Rule 16-303(A)(l) and (4) state that an attorney may not knowingly 
make a false statement to a tribunal or offer evidence the lawyer knows to be false. Rille 
18-804(D) defines as misconduct engaging in conduct prejudicial to the administration of 
justice. Respondent's conduct may have been in violation of some or all of these Rilles. 
Possi ~OlatiOnst'tiOrud Rules may be disclosed as the investigation proceeds. 

Vir .. L. Ferrara 
CbiefDisciplinary Counsel 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEW MEXICO
 

Glenn M. Boza, 
Plaintiff, 

v. No. CV-08-00908 BB/LFG 

Michael B. Donley, Secretary, 
United States Air Force, 

Defendant. 

MEMORANDUM OPINION 

TIllS MATTER comes before the Court on Defendant's April 6,2009 motion to dismiss, 

or in the alternative, for summary judgment. [Document #12]. After reviewing the motion, 

response, reply, and relevant law, this Court finds that Defendant's motion to dismiss should be 

GRANlED_ 

I. BACKGROUND 

A. Facts and Procedural Posture 

Plaintiff, Glenn Boza, was employed by the Kirtland Air Force base in Albuquerque, New 

Mexico from March 22, 2004 until February 11, 2008. [Document #12 at 2] On February II, 

Plaintiff received a Notice ofDecision to Remove, and a Last Chance Agreement ("LCA"). [ld.] 

The notice informed him that his position would be terminated unless he signed the LCA within 

seven days. [Id.] The notice also infonned him that ifhe did not sign the LeA, the effective date 

1:
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of his removal would remain February 11, 2008. [Id] Plaintiff did not sign the tCA, thus the 

effective date ofhis removal was February 11, 2008. [Id.] 

On March 24, Plaintiffchallenged his removal by filing a mixed-case appeal with the 

Merit Systems Protection Board ("MSPB,,).I He raised the affinnative defenses of race, national 

origin, age, and disability discrimination. [Document #12 at 2] The MSPB dismissed his case due 

to untimely filing. [Document #14-2 at 4] lhis dismissal occurred on May 30,2008. On October 

5,2008, ninety-four days later, Plaintiff filed this action. Defendant now moves to dismiss, or in 

the alternative, for summary judgement, arguing two independent grounds: first, Plaintiff 

untimely filed his mixed-case appeal with the MSPB. Second, Plaintiffuntimely filed this action 

with the CourL 

B. Mixed-Case Appeals Under the Civil Service Reform Act 

The Civil Service Refonn Act of 1978 ("'CSRA") allows federal employees to challenge 

adverse employment actions. 5 U.S.C. §§ 1201-1222. Ifthe adverse employment action is 

appealable to the MSPB2 and related to unlawful discrimination,3 the case is referred to as a 

1 The MSPB is an independent, quasi-judicial federal administrative agency created by 
Congress in 1978. Garcia v. Dep't afHomeland Sec., 437 F.3d 1322, 1327 (Fed. eir. 2006). 
Congress gave the Board the responsibility, inter alia, to adjudicate appeals ofadverse personnel 
actions taken by a federal agency against its employees.Id. 

2 The MSPB has jurisdiction over appeals from specified agency employment actions, 
including demotions, suspensions, and removals of agency employees. 5 C.F.R. § 1201.3. 

3 Under 5 U.S.C. § 7702(a), mixed cases must allege discrimination prohibited by: 
(i) section 717 of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 U.S.C. 2000e-16), 
(ii) section 6(d) ofthe Fair Labor Standards Act of1938 (29 U.S.C. 206(d), 
(iii) section 501 ofthe RebabilitationAct of 1973 (29 U.S.C. 791), 
(iv) sections 12 and 15 ofthe Age Discrimination in Employment Act of] 967 (29 U.s.c. 
631, 633a), or 
(v) any rule, regulation, or policy directive prescribed under any provision of law 
described in clauses (i) through (iv) ofthis subparagraph.
 

2
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"mixed case. " 5 C.F.R. § 1201.3; 29 C.F.R. § 1614.302(a); e.g., Williams v. Rice, 983 F.2d 177, 

179 (lOth Crr. 1993). Under the CSRA, a federal employee may file a mixed-case complaint with 

the agency's Equal Employment Office ("EEO''), or a mixed-case appeal with the MSPB, but not 

both. 5 U.S.C. § 7702(a); 5 C.F.R. § 1201.151-57; 29 C.F.R. § 1614.302(b). 

According to MSPB regulations, an agency employee wishing to challenge his removal 

must appeal within thirty days ofthe effective date ofbis removal, or ofhis receipt ofthe 

agency's decision, whichever is later. 5 C.FR. § 1201.22(b). However, the MSPB may waive the 

time requirement for<good cause. 5 CF.R. § 1201.22(c). Here, both the effective date and receipt 

ofnotice occurred on February 11. (Docwnent #14-2 at 2). Plaintiff filed his appeal forty-two 

days later, twelve days after the deadline. (Id.) The MSPB found no good cause for the delay! and 

dismissed Plaintiff's claim for untimely filing. (Id. at 4). U.S. district courts review de novo 

discrimination cases that are dismissed by the MSPB for untimeliness.s 5 U.S.C. § 7702(a)( I); 5 

U.S.C. § 7703; 29 C.F.R. § 1614.310; Harms, 321 F.3d at 1008. 

4 Plaintiff contends that his counsel misunderstood the effective date of his removal, that 
his counsel was busy and training a new staff, and that any delays were de minimis. (Document 
#14-2 at 2-3). The MSPB held that Plaintifffailed to use due diligence in complying with the 
time requirements, so even de minimis delays would not be excused. (Id at 3-4). 

S Typically, the Federal Circuit has exclusive jurisdiction to review final decisions by the 
MSPB. 5. U.S.C. § 7703(b)(1). However, in mixed-case appeals, a federal district court has 
jurisdiction to review MSPB decisions. 5 U.S.C. § 7702(a)(l); 5. U.S.C. § 7703(b)(2); In the 
Second and Tenth Circuits, this is 1rue even if the MSPB does not hear the merits of the case due 
to untimeliness. Harmsv. IRS, 321 F.3d 1001,1008 (lOth Cir. 2003). 

3 
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n. DISCUSSION 

A.	 . PlaintiffMust Exhaust Administrative Remedies Prior to Bringing Suit in 
Federal Court 

The "exhaustion doctrine" is the well-established requirement that Plaintiffs bringing 

discrimination cases must exhaust administrative remedies before filing a civil suit. See, e.g., 

Brown v. Gen. Servs. Admin., 425 U.S. 820, 832 (1976) (discussing exhaustion ofadministralive 

remedies under the Rehabilitation Act and Title Vll). The exhil.Ustion doctrine is equally 

applicable to discrimination suits filed by federal employees through the CSRA. Downey v. 

Runyon, 160 F.3d 139, 145 (2d Cir. 1998). To exhaust administrative remedies, federal 

employees bringing mixed cases must timely file with either their agency's EEO or the MSPB. 5 

C.F.R. § 1201.154; 29 C.F.R. § 1614.310; see also Harms, 321 F.3d at 1009 (''Under the CSRA, 

a plaintiff must either file a timely mixed case appeal with the MSPB or a timely mi?ced case 

complaint with the agency's EEO department prior to bringing a civil action."); Coffman v. 

Glickman, 328 F.3d 619,623-24 (lOth Cir. 2003). Once Plaintiff chose to file amixed-ease 

appeal with the MSPB, he had to timely exhaust that remedy before appealing to federal court. 

Harms, 321 F.3dat 1009. 

B.	 To Exhaust his Administrative Remedies, PlaintiffMust Comply With MSPB 
Time Requirements, or Show Good Cause for Delay 

To exhaust his administrative remedies, Plaintiff must file his mixed-case appeal 

according to the MSPB's time requirements. Harms, 321 F.3d at 1009. However, the Supreme 

Court has held and the Tenth Circuit has long recognized that administrative time requirements 

are subject to waiver, estoppel, and equitable tolling.6 Zipes v. Trans World Airlines, 455 U.S. 

6 The Tenth Circuit distinguishes cases that do not timely exhaust administrative 
remedies, from cases that do nbt exhaust at all. While timeliness is subject to waiver, estoppel, 

4 
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385, 393 (1982) (holding that EEOC time requirements are akin to a statute oflimitations, and 

thus subject to waiver, estoppel, and equitable tolling); Beaird v. Seagate Tech., 145 F.3d 1] 59, 

1174-75 (lOth Cir. 1998); Richardson v. Frank, 975 F.2d 1433, 1435 (lOth Cir. 1991). MSPB 

time requirements also are subject to equitable tolling, ifgood cause is shown. Harms, 321 F.3d 

at 1009. Generally good cause to waive time requirements is narrowly construed, and exceptions 

to MPSB time requirements are no Jess narrow. Id. at 1006; Biester v. Midwest Health Servs., 77 

F3d 1264, 1267 (lOth Cir. 1996). Good cause to. waive time requirements exists only when a 

plaintiff is actively misled or prevented from timely filing his complaint. Montoya Y. Chao, 296 

F3d 952, 957 (10th Cir. 2002). 

Here, Plaintiffdid not file within the thirty-day deadline, but twelve days late. (Document 

#14-2 at 2). The MSPB found no good cause to excuse his late filing. Before the MSPB, 

Plaintiff's justifications for filing late were counsel's inability to meet with his client until 

twenty-three days before the deadline, counsel's miscalculation ofthe filing deadline, counseI' s 

busy schedule, and counsel's new staff. (Id.). Plaintiffdid not show he was actively misled or 

somehow prevented from complying with deadlines. 

Before this Court, Plaintiffhas presented no argument or evidence concerning his late 

filing with the MSPB.7 Therefore the only reason Plaintiffhas supplied for failing the MSPB 

and equitable tolling, failure to exhaust at all is a complete bar to suit. Jones v. UPs, Inc., 502 
F .3d 1176, 1183 (10th Cir. 2007) (noting that, although a timely filing is not jurisdictional in 
nature, the filing itself is a jurisdictional requirement); Sizova Y. Nat'IInst. ofStds. & Tech., 282 
F.3d 1320, 1325 (lOth Cir. 2002) (distinguishing "between a failure to timely file an 
administrative charge, which is not jurisdictional, and a failure to file an administrative charge at 
all, which is a jurisdictional bar."); Jones v. Runyon, 91 F.3d 1398, 1399 n.l (lOth Cir. 1996), 

7 Plaintiffs arguments were directed only at the timeliness ofthis lawsuit, rather than his 
original filing with the MSPB. Due to this Court's resolution ofthe case based on the untimely 

5 
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time requirement is the argument he made to the. MSPB concerning pis counsel's lack ofdue 

diligence. Plaintiff is responsible for his counsel's errors that fall short of due diligence. Irwin v. 

Dep't o/Veterans Affairs, 498 U.S. 89,96 (1990) (holding that EEOC time requirements should 

not be equitably tolled to excuse attorney error that is «at best a garden variety claim of excusable 

neglect"). No good cause exists to waive the MSPB time requirements, because "[0Joe who tails 

to act diligently cannot invoke equitable principles to excuse that lack ofdiligence." Baldwin 

County Welcome Ctr. v. Brown, 466 U.S. 147, 15] (1984). Thus Plaintiff's untimely filing 

amounts to a failure to exhaust administrative remedies. Because failure to exhaust 

administrative remedies bars suit in federal court, Plaintiff's claim should be dismissed. 

ID. CONCLUSION 

Because Plaintifffailed to timely exhaust his administrative remedies, he is barred from 

bringing civil action. Accordingly, Defendant's motion to dismiss is GRANTED. 

~~vU 
BRUCE D. BLACK 
United States District Judge 

MSPB filing, the Court need not address arguments as to why the late filing ofthis lawsuit 
should be excused. 

6 
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CHIEF DISCIPLINARY COUNSEL COMPLAINT
 

RESPONDENT: Dennis Montoya
 

RULES INVOLVED: 16-103 and 16-804(D)
 

DATE: 11 March 2010
 

Ibis complaint arises out of the handling of a case captioned Boza v. Donley, 
Cause No. CV-08..Q0908 before the United States District Court for the District ofNew 
Mexico. Court records indicate that you represented the plaintiff Glenn Boza in this 
wrongful termination case. 

Regulations governing proceedings before the :federal Merit Systems Protection 
Board (MSPB) provide that one must appeal a dismissal within thirty (30) days of the 
effective date ofremoval or receipt ofnotice ofremoval, whichever is later. In this case, 
you filed an appeal for Boza forty -two (42) days later (or twelve days after the thirty day 
deadline for appealing the removal had expired..) Wbile you argued that yon had 
misunderstood the effective date of the removal, that you were busy training a new staff, 
and that the delay was de minimis, the MSPB found no good cause for the delay and 
dismissed Boza's appeal for untimeliness. On behaJf of Boza, you filed a civil action in 
the United States District Court. 

The District Court (Judge Black) found that prior to bringing suit in Federal 
Court, one must first exhaust one's administrative remedies and that Boza's untimeLy 
filing amounted to a failure to exhaust administrative remedies. Judge Black held that 
Boza was "responsible for his counsel's errors that fall short of due diligence" and 
granted defendant's motion to dismiss on June 25, 2009. 

Rule 16-103 NMRA provides that "a lawyer shall act with reasonable diligence 
and promptness in representing a client." Rule 16-&04(D) NMRA provides that it is 
misconduct for a lawyer to "engage in conduct that is prejudicial to the administration of 
justice." Other Rules may be found to have been involved. once this investigation 
pro 

Chief Disciplinary Counsel 

EXHIBIT 

~ 
.D 
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IN TIlE UNITED STATES DISTRlCT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEW MEXICO 

JANE DOE. a minor, by and through 
her next friend EVA HUGHES. her mother 
and natural guardian. MARY DOE, a minor, 
by and through her next friend EVA HUGHES, 
her mother and natural guardian. 

Plaintiffs, 

vs. No. CIV-09-104 WJ/WPL 

ISAAC MARTINEZ. a married man, CRUZ 
DELIA MARTINEZ, an unmarried woman; 
ISAAC MARTINEZ and CRUZ DELIA 
MARTINEZ. jointly for the former Community 
Estate comprised oflsaac Martinez and Cruz Delia 
Martinez, JOHN MOE and JANE MOE, husband 
and wife; JOHN ROES I-V, inclusive; JANE ROES 
I-V, inclusive; ABC Corporations, Inclusive; XYZ 
Partnerships, inclusive, 

Defendants. 

ORDER REMANDING CASE AND AWARDING ATIORNEY'S FEES,
 
EXPENSES AND COSTS FOR IMPROPER REMOVAL
 

THIS MAlTER comes before the Court on Plaintiffs' Motion for Remand (Doc. 12) 

which includes a request for attorney's fees and costs. The above captioned case was initiated 

in the United States District Court for the District ofNew Mexico by Defendant Isaac Martin~z 

when his lawyer, Dennis Montoya, filed the Notice ofRemoval (Doc. 1) on February 4. 2009. 

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § § 1441 and 1446. The Notice ofRemoval purportedly removed to this 

Court the case of Jane Doe. a minor, by and through next mend, Eva Hughes. et aI.. Plaintiffs v. 

Isaac Martinez, et aI., Defendants. CV-2008-033216, Superior Court ofArizona, County of 

Maricopa (the "Arizona State Court Case"). The Court, having considered Plaintiffs' Motion to 

Remand (Doc. 12), the Declaration ofLeonard J. Mark (Doc. 16), Defendant Martinez's EXHIBIT 

H 
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Response (Doc. 19), Plaintiff's Reply (Doc. 20) and the applicable law, FINDS that Plainti frs 

Motion to Remand is well taken and shall be GRANTED. 

L REMOVAL UNDER 28 U.S.C. § § 1441 and 1440: 

28 U.S.C. § 144] is entitled "Actions Removable Generally." Paragraph (a) ofSection 

1441 states in relevant part: 

" ... any civil action brought in a State court ofwhicb the District 
Courts of the United States have original jurisdiction, may be 
removed by the Defendant or the Defendants, to the district court 
of the United States for the district and division embraciJ:'.g tbe 
place where SDch action is pending." (Emphasis added). 

28 U.S.C. § 1446 is entitled "Procedure for Removal." Paragraph (a) ofSection 1446 

states in relevant part: 

"Federal Rules ofCivil Procedure A defendant or defendants 
desiring to remove any civil action from a State court shall file 
in the district court of the United States for the district and 
division within such action is pending a notice ofremoval signed 
pursuant to Rule 11 ofthe Federal Rules ofCivil Procedure." 
(Emphasis added). 

Had Attorney Montoya bothered to read the first paragraph ofSection 1441 or the first 

paragraph ofSection 1446, he would have discovered in clear and unequivocal statutory 

language that the Arizona State Court Case could not be removed to federal court in New 

Mexico. Assuming diversity ofcitizenship such that there would be subject matter jurisdiction 

in fedeml court, the only federal court Defendant Martinez could have removed the Arizona 

State Court case to is the United States District Court for the District ofArizona. Having 

detennined that. the Notice ofRemoval is jurisdictionally deficient on its face, the Court need not 

address any of the arguments raised by Attorney Montoya in Defendant Martinez'S Response to 

the Motion for Remand (Doc. 19) other than to note that the arguments raised by Attorney 

Montoya are totally devoid of merit. 

2 
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The United States District Court for the District ofNew Mexico, like the United States 

District Court for the District of Arizona, has a huge criminal caseload, much ofwhich is 

comprised ofborder related cases. Consequently, the judges in this district are not always able 

to devote as much time as they would like to pending cases on their civil dockets. Simply stated, 

had I discovered the improper removal ofthe Arizona State Court case to this Court when the 

Notice ofRemoval was filed, I would have sua sponte remanded the case back to Arizona State 

Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C- §1447{c). Further, the record shows that U. S. Magistrate Judge 

William P. Lynch denied Arizona counsel's Motions for Admission Pro Hac Vice. WhiJe Judge 

Lynch was correct in noting the technical deficiencies with the Motions for Admission Pro Hac 

Vice in accordance with the local rules ofthis Court, I am confident that had Judge Lynch 

realized how blatantly improper Defendant Martinez's removal ofthe Arizona State Court case 

to this Court, he would have brought the matter to my attention, or would have overlooked the 

technical deficiencies in the Motions for Admission Pro Hac Vice. 

II.	 JUST COSTS, EXPENSES AND ATTORNEY'S FEES FORIMPROPER 
REMOVAL PURSUANT TO 28 U.S.C. § 1447(c): 

Attorney Leonard J. Mark submitted his Declaration under penalty ofperjury (Doc. 16) 

whereby he is requesting on behalfofhis clients attorney's fees and costs in amount of 

$4,210.00 plus certain other unspecified costs andlor fees. The Court considers the sum of 

$4,210.00 to be an extremely reasonable amount considering Attorney Montoya's blatantly 

improper: removal to this Court and considering Attorney's insistence that removal to this Court 

was somehow proper after noble attempts by Attorney Mark to demonstrate to Attorney 

Montoya just how legally unsound and untenable his removal to this Court of the Arizona State 

Court_ What is not completely clear to the Court is whether the sum of$4,210.00 is adequate to 

reimburse Plaintiffs' counsel in Arizona and Plaintiffs' counsel in New Mexico for the attorney's 

3
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fees, expenses and costs reasonably incurred in bringing the improper removal to this Court's 

attention. 

Based on the Declaration ofAttorney Mark and Exhibit I attached thereto and the 

pleadings filed in this case, the Court finds that Plaintiffs are entitled to attorney's fees, expenses 

and costs in accordance with 28 U.S.C. § 1447(c). Even assuming that Attorney Montoya was 

operating under the mistaken beliefthat he could properly remove the Arizona State Court case 

t6 federaJ court in New Mexico, Attorney Mark's letter dated February 11,2009 (Ex. 1, Doc. 16) 

put Attorney Montoya on notice that his removal ofthe Arizona State Court case to federal court 

in New Mexico was improper and any marginally competent lawyer would have examined the 

removal statute to see ifin fact removal of the Arizona State Court Case to New Mexico was 

improper. Moreover, ifAttorney Mark's letter was somehow overlooked, clearly Plaintiffs' 

Motion to Remand would put any marginally competent lawyer on notice that removal was 

improper. Notwithstanding Attorney Mark's letter and Plaintiffs' Motion for Remand., Attorney 

Montoya dug in his heels and filed a Response in Opposition to Remand which set forth seVL:ral 

bogus and frivolous arguments that somehow removal to this Court was proper. Attorney 

Montoya's conduct not only caused Plaintiffs to incur attorney's fees, expenses and costs by 

Arizona counsel, but also resulted in Plaintiffs incurring attorney's fees, expenses and costs by 

having to retain New Mexico counsel to file the Motion for Remand and to file the Reply to 

Attorney Montoya's frivolous response. Ifever there was a case where attorney's fees and Cl)sts 

should be awarded under Section 1447(c), this is the one. 

While the Court is remanding the case back to Arizona State Court, the Court shall relain 

jurisdiction to consider the exact amount ofan appropriate award of attorney's fees, costs aml 

actual expenses to be awarded Plaintiffs on account of the improper removal by Defendant 

Martinez. Accordingly, Arizona counsel and/or New Mexico counsel for Plaintiffs shall within 

4
 



u .., ..., 'u • u ....~~ 111'10 UI.."'I....lIIldll DUd. U (r AX)~U~/tititil:i33 P.027/057 

Case 1:09-cv-ooi... ,-WJ-WPL Document 24 Filed L.., 03/2009 Page 5 of 6 

ten (10) days ofthe entry ofthis Order file an affidavit detailing what they assert is the 

reasonable attorney's fees, expenses and costs that should be awarded for the improper removal. 

Attorney Montoya shall have ten (10) days after such affidavit is filed to submit any 

written objections concerning the reasonableness ofattomey's fees, expenses and costs that the 

Court will award pursuant to § 1447(c). IfAttorney Montoya decides to file any objections, he 

needs to understand that what remains undecided is not whether attorney's fees, expenses and 

costs are going to be awarded, but rather the amount ofsuch attorney's fees, expenses and costs 

to be awarded to Plaintiffs.·· 

ID. SANCTIONS UNDER 28 U.S.C. § 1927: 

28 U.S.c. § 1927 provides that «[a]ny attorney ... who so multiplies the proceedings in 

any case unreasonably and vexatiously may be required by the court to satisfy personally the 

excess costs, expenses, and attorneys' fees reasonably incurred because ofsuch conduct." 

Sanctions are appropriate when an attorney acts recklessly or with indifference to the law; is 

cavalier or bent on misleading the court; intentionally acts without a plausible basis; or when the 

entire course of the proceedings is unwarranted. Steinert v. Winn Group, InC., 440 F .3d 1214, 

1221 (10th cir. 2006). An attorney's actions are measw:ed under the standard ofobjective bad 

faith. Braley v. Campbell, 832 F.2d 1504, 1512 (10lb Cir. ] 981) (enbanc). The Court also has 

the inherent right to manage its own proceedin~s. It has authority under its own inherent 

powers to deter frivolous and abusive litigation and promote justice and judicial efficiency by 

imposing monetary sanctions. See Roadway Express, Inc. V. Piper, 447 U.S. 752, 764-67 

(1980); Braley v. Campbell, 832 F.2d 1504, ] 510 n.4 (10th Cir. 1987); Link v. Wabash R. Co., 

370 U.S. 626 632 (1962) (recognizing the well-acknowledged inherent power ofa court to levy 

sanctions in response to abusive litigation practices). 

The statutory and case law language quoted and referenced in the preceding paragraph 

5 
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describes exactly the conduct ofAttorney Montoya in filing the Notice ofRemoval and insi,sting 

that removal was somehow proper in this Court in contravention to the express language of the 

removal statute. Moreover, Attorney Montoya's refusal to dismiss this case after the improper 

removal was brought to Attorney Montoya's attention first by Attorney Mark's letter and sCl;ond 

by Plaintiff's Motion to Remand, is the type ofabusive litigation practice Section 1927 is 

designed to deter. Therefore, 2& U.S.C. § 1927 provides an additional basis for awarding 

Plaintiffs attorney's fees, expenses and costs. 

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED that the above captioned case is hereby remanded to 

the Superior Court ofthe State of Arizona in and for the County ofMaricopa; 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Plaintiffs are hereby awarded attorney's fees, CO.'>ts 

and expenses pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1447 (c) and pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1927 against 

Attorney Dennis Montoya. Arizona counsel and New Mexico counsel for Plaintiffs shall submit 

within ten (10) days ofthe ennyofthis Order an affidavit setting forth the attorney's fees, costs 

and expenses requested and Attorney Montoya shall have an additional ten (l0) days from the 

date offiling ofsuch affidavit to object to the reasonableness ofthe amounts requested; 

IT IS FINALLY ORDERED that Arizona Attorney Leonard J_Mark is admitted to this 

Court Pro Hac Vice and is allowed to file any pleadings in connection with this case without 

having to further utilize New Mexico counsel. 

~CWRT 

6
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McAdams v. Reno, 64 F.3d 1137, 1141 (lOth CiT. 1995) ("A mixed case may be filed as a 

complaint with the agency's EEO office or as an appeal to the MSPB, but not both"). mother 

words, ifan employee wishes to challenge her removal, while also raising discrimination claims 

or defenses, she has two options: (1) she may file a complaint with her agency's ·EEO office, or 

(2) she may file a mixed case appeal with the MSPB-but she must choose one. Also, in cases 

such as this, where the aggrieved employee in fact files both a mixed case appeal to the MSPB 

and an EEO complaint, "whichever is filed first shall be considered an election to proceed in that 

forum." 29 C.F.R. § 1614.302(b). The question, then, is: In which forum did Plaintifffile first? 

The relevant dates make it clear that Plaintiff chose the MSPB option. Ms. Garcia filed 

her mixed case appeal with the MSPB on September 29,2007, three days before she filed her 

EEO complaint, on October 2:4 See EEO Compl. (Doc. # 30, Exh. 2 at 22). By filing a mixed 

case appeal to the MSPB first, Plaintiffwaived her right to have the EEO office address her 

discrimination claims.s See, e.g., Economou, supra, 286 F.3d at 149-150 (once a govemmenL 

employee elects to pursue a mixed case appeal before the MSPB, she is obliged to follow that 

route, to the exclusion of any other remedy that may have been available). Thus, the EEO office 

4At some point during the time between receiving the Forest Service's notice ofremoval 
and its effective date, Ms. Garcia sought EEO counseling. See MSPB Dec. (Doc. # 25, Exh. A at 
11). Though she contacted the EEO office before she filed the mixed case appeal, the timing of 
this contact is irrelevant. The essential comparison is the date on which she filed her mixed case 
appeal, versus when she lodged a formal EEO complaint. See 29 C.F.R. § 1614.301 ("[a]n 
election to proceed [with an EEG action] is indicated only by the filing ofa written complaint; 
use ofthe pre-complaint process ... does not constitute an election for purposes of this 
section."); see also Economou v. Caldera, 286 F3d 144, 149 (2d Cir. 2002) ("This binding 
'election' between the MSPB and EEO remedies occurs as soon as a formal petition is filed in 
either forum.''). 

SAs evidenced by the USDA's Report ofmvestigation, the EEO office did in fact address 
Plainti:f.fs discrimination claims. See USDA Rep. (Doc. # 30, Exh. 2). However, because she 
filed the EEO complaint after she filed a mixed case appeal with the MSPB, this report was 
superfluous. Put simply, the EEO office had no legal obligation to issue it. 
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had no obligation to issue its report. See StolZ v. Principi, 449 F.3d 263, 266 (1st Cir. 2006) 

(describing an EEO complaint as a "nullity" when filed after a mixed case appeal). Indeed, 

Plaintifrs request for a hearing with the EEOC is subject to dismissal, and the Court need not 

concern itselfwith the potential for piecemeal litigation. See 29 C.F.R. § 1614.107(a)(4) (EEOC 

regulation which states, "the [EEOC) shaH dismiss an entire complaint ... [w]here the 

complainant has raised the matter ... in an appeal to the [MSPB]").6 In short,· Plaintiff's 

argument cannot salvage her untimely claim. 

c. PlaintifPs Request For Leave to Amend Her Complaint is Denied 

The final matter the Court must address is Plaintiff's request for leave to amend her 

complaint, so as to include issues raised in her EEO complaint See PL's Resp. (Doc. # 30 at 2). 

Federal Rule ofCivil Procedure 15(a) provides that leave to amend a complaint shall be given 

freely. FED. R. CIV.P. 15(a). However, a district court may deny leave to amend a complaint 

where the party seeking amendment knew ofthe facts upon which the proposed amendment is 

based, but failed to incorporate them into the original complaint See Las Vegas Ice and Cold 

Storage Co. v. Far West Bank, 893 F2d 1182, 1185 (10th Cir. 1990). 

Plaintiffdoes not deny that, at the time she filed her judicial complaint, she knew of the 

facts upon which all the claims in her EEO complaint were based. In fact, the only cause of 

action in her EEO complaint that is not included in her judicial complaint is one ofdisparate 

treatment based on sex, which she asserts occurred during her employment with the Forest 

Service. See USDA Rep. (Doc. # 30, Exh. 2). However, her tenure with the Forest Service 

6In her response brief, Plaintiffasserts that she is "entitled to have her day in court on the 
pending EEO complaint[.]" That, however, is an inaccurate statement ofthe law pursuant to 
C.F.R. § 1614.107(a)(4), which mandates that the EEOC dismiss a complaint when it 
encompasses matters already raised in a mixed case appeaL 
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ended ahnost seven months before she filed her judicial complaint As there is no reason to 

believe that Plaintiffwas unaware ofthe factual basis for her disparate treatment claim when she 

filed her judicial complaint, that cause ofaction should have been included therein. 

Moreover, as Defendant points out, Plaintiffprovided notice in the Joint Status Report of 

her intention to file an amended complaint by December 15, 2008. See Joint Status Rep. (Doc. # 

12 at 2). And Magistrate Judge Lynch adopted the time line set forth by the parties as an order of 

the Court. See 8ch. Order (Doc. # 16). D~spite Plaintiff's declared intention, however, she never 

filed an amended complaint. Given this unexplained failure to follow the time line agreed to by 

the parties and Judge Lynch, the Court is disinclined to allow Plaintiffto amend her complaint 

now. For these reasons, the Court denies Plaintifrs request 

CONCLUSION 

fu sum, Plaintiff's complaint alleging violations ofTitle VTI was untimely, and she has 

not provided evidence to persuade the Court that the filing deadline should be tolled. In addition, 

Plaintiff's argument that the Court should ignore the 30-day deadline to prevent «piecemeal 

litigation" is unavailing. Defendant's summary-judgment motion (Doc. # 25) should thus be 

GRANTED. Lastly, under the circumstances ofthis case, the Court elects to exercise its 

discretion by denying Plaintiff's request for leave to amend her complaint 

~D~ 
BRUCE D. BLACK 
United States District Judge 
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CHIEF DISCIPLINARY COUNSEL COMPLAINT
 

RESPONDENT: Dennis Montoya
 

RULES INVOLVED: 16-101,16-103 and 16-804(D)
 

DATE: 11 March 2010
 

This complaint arises out of the handling of a case captioned Garcia v. Schaefer, 
Cause No. CIV-08-0406 BB/WPL before the United States District Court for the District 
ofNew Mexico. Court records indicate that you represented the plaintiff Barbara Garcia 
in this lawsuit filed under Title VII ofthe Civil Rights Act of 1964 

Plaintiff was employed by the United States Department of Agriculture (Forest 
Service) as a forester and was issued a "Letter of Inquiry" by her supervisors regarding 
what appeared to be unauthorized purchases with her government-issued credit card. Not 
satisfied with Garcia's explanation, the Forest Service terminated her as of September 29, 
2007. On that same day, Garcia filed a "mixed case appeal" with the Merit Systems 
Protection Board (MSPB) alleging discrimination and retaliation as defenses to her 
termination. 

The MSPB affirmed the Forest Service's decision to terminate -Garcia's 
employment. At the end of its opinio~ the MSPB notified Garcia of her options for 
going forward: she could (a) petition for review of the decision by MSPB so long as the 
petition was filed by 02122/08, (b) file. a petition for review by the EEOC on or before 
02/22/09, or (c) seek judicial review in federal district court under Title VII no later than 
thirty (30) days after 02/22/08. Garcia chose the third option but Montoya did not file her 
complaint with the federal court until 04/21108 - twenty-nine (29) days after the thirty 
day deadline had expired. No satisfactory rationale was given for the delay, and on 
06/23/09 the District Court (Judge Black) granted the Defendant's Motion for Summary 
Judgment.. 

Rule 16-101 NMRA provides that a lawyer shall provide competent 
representation to a client and defines "competent representation" as requiring ''the legal 
knowledge, skill, thoroughness and preparation reasonably necessary for the 
representation." Rule 16-103 NMRA provides that "a lawyer shall act with reasonable 
diligence and promptness in representing a client" Rule 16-804(D) NMRA provides that 
it is misconduct for a lawyer to "engage in conduct that is prejudicial to the 
adminis tion of justice." Other Rules may be found to have been involved once this 
inves· ation proceeds. 

~ 
Vir . . 1. Ferrara 
ChiefDisciplinary Counsel 

. 

EXHIBIT 

K 
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ended almost seven months before she :filed her judicial complaint. As there is no reason to 

believe that Plaintiffwas unaware ofthe factual basis for her disparate treatment claim when she 

filed her judicial complaint, that cause ofaction should have been included therein. 

Moreover, as Defendant points out, Plaintiff provided notice in the Joint Status Report of 

her intention to file an amended complaint by December 15, 2008. See Joint Status Rep. (Doc. # 

12 at 2). And Magistrate Judge Lynch adopted the time fine set forth by the parties as an order of 

the Court. See Sch. Order (Doc. # 16). D~spite Plaintif:f's declared intention, however, she never 

filed an amended complaint.; Given this unexplained failure to follow the time· line,agreed to by 

the parties and Judge Lynch, the Court is disinclined to allow Plaintiffto amend h~r 'complaint 

now. For these reasons, the Court denies Plaintiff's request. 

CONCLUSION 

In swn, Plaintiff's complaint alleging violations' OfTitle va ';vas untimely, arid'she has 

not provided eVidence to persuade the Court'that the filing 'deadline should b~ tolled. In addition, 

Plaintiffs argument that the Court should ignore the 30-day deadline to prevent '=piecemea) 

litigation'" is unavailing: Deferidant's surnmary-judgmentmotion (Doc. # 25) should thue; be 

GRANTED. Lastly, under the circumstariC'es ofthis caSe, the Courtie]ec~'to exercise itS 

discretion by denying Plaintiffs request for leave to amend her complaint. .' 

; \ 

i'~C:J~ 
---- --,--­
BRUCE D. BLAC'K 
.United States District Judge 

. . : .' 
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STATE OF NEW MEXICO ) 
) 55 

COUNTY OF BERNALILLO ) 

I, JULIE AVALLONE, Official Court Reporter for the 

second Judicial District of the State of New Mexico, hereby 

certify that I reported, to the best of my ability, the 

attached proceedings, PV Hearing; that the pages numbered 1 

through 18, inclusive, are a true and correct transcript of 

my stenographic notes and were reduced to typewritten 

transcript through computer-Aided Transcription; and that on 

the date I reported these proceedings, I was a New Mexico 

Certified Court Reporter. 

Dated at Albuquerque, New Mexico, this 3rd day of May 

2010. 

] ~IE AVA~LONE) CCR, RPR 
ew Mexico\CCR No. 39 
Expires.~2l31/10 
(505) 8~765 
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